IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,)
v.) S.CT. NO. 18-0184
BERNARD SMITH,)
Defendant-Appellant.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR STORY COUNTY HONORABLE TIMOTHY J. FINN, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARIA RUHTENBERG Assistant Appellate Defender MRuhtenberg@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF <u>STATE V. HARRINGTON</u>, RENDERING THE DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEA TO THE HABITUAL OFFENDER ENHANCEMENT UNKNOWING, INVOLUNTARY, AND WITHOUT A FACTUAL BASIS.

Authorities

- State v. Harrington, 893 N.W.2d 36, 42 (Iowa 2017)
- State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004)
- Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d)
- State v. Fisher, 877 N.W.2d 676, 680-681 (Iowa 2016)
- State v. Hinner, 471 N.W.2d 841, 845 (Iowa 1991)
- State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)
- State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)
- State v. Royer, 632 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 2001)
- Iowa R. App. P. 6.907
- State v. Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998)
- Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9)
- State v. Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d 687, 692 (Iowa 2005)
- Iowa Code § 902.8 (2017)
- State v. Conley, 222 N.W.2d 501, 503 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Jordan, 663 N.W.2d 877, 881 (Iowa 2003)

U.S. Census Bureau,

https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/2016/comm/ cb16-tps154_surnames_top15.html (last visited, 5/31/2018)

https://names.mongabay.com/male_names_alpha.htm (last visited May 31, 2018)

State v. Miller, No. 16-2110, 2018 WL 1099580, *4-5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2/21/2018)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380 (2005)

State v. Ortiz, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764-765 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Feregrino, 756 N.W.2d 700, 705-706 (Iowa 2008)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ORDERING THE DEFENDANT TO PAY RESTITUTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Authorities

State v. Mai, 572 N.W.2d 168, 170-171 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Kurtz, 878 N.W.2d 469, 472 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Pace, No. 16-1785, 2018 WL 1629894, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. April 2, 2018)

State v. Paxton, 674 N.W.2d 106, 108 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.1(4) (2017)

State v. Wagner, 484 N.W.2d 212, 215-216 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2015)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Tanner, 14-1963, 2016 WL 4384468, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2016)

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING A FINE.

Authorities

State v. Dann, 591 N.W.2d 635, 637 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Davis, 544 N.W.2d 453, 455 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2016)

Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Ohnmacht, 342 N.W.2d 838, 842 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa Code § 902.9(1)(d) (2017)

State v. Carstens, 594 N.W.2d 436, 437 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Halterman, 630 N.W.2d 611, 613-614 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal of a judgment of conviction following a jury trial for burglary in the second degree as an habitual offender in Story County case number FECR055958.

Course of Proceedings: On September 27, 2017, the State charged the defendant, Bernard Smith, with burglary in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 713.1, 713.5 (2017), a class C felony. The State also alleged Smith was an habitual offender under Iowa Code section 902.8 (2017), which enhances his sentence from 10 years to 15 years and adds a mandatory minimum of 3 years. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-6). On September 29, 2017, Smith entered a plea of not guilty. (Written Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty) (App. pp. 7-9). The matter was tried to a jury beginning on November 28, 2017. (Trial tr. p. 1, L. 1-25). On November 29, 2017, the jury found Smith guilty of burglary in the first degree. (Trial tr. p. 146, L. 19-25). On January 16, 2018, the court sentenced Smith to 15 years in prison. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 10-13). On January 25, 2018, Smith filed a Notice of Appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 14).

Facts: On September 20, 2017, at around 7:30 a.m., Tracy Jones arrived at the Olde Main Brewing Company (Olde Main) in Ames, Iowa, where she worked as a waitress. (Trial tr. p. 15, L. 1 - p. 16, L. 6). Olde Main opens to the public at 11:00 a.m. The only people in the building at the time besides her were (Trial tr. p. 16, L. 10-13; p. 35, L. 12-15). some electricians. Around 9:00 a.m. she noticed someone hunched down behind the bar in the restaurant area. There was a green bag on the floor next to him. (Trial tr. p. 20, L. 4-22; p. 22, L. 2-4). She said something to him, and he stood up and walked out of the building through the back door. She followed him and tried to get him to stop. (Trial tr. p. 23, L. 10-25). Once she was outside of the building she noticed a police officer sitting in his

car in the parking lot. She approached him and told him what happened. She pointed to the man who was walking through the same lot, identifying him as the man who was inside the restaurant. (Trial tr. p. 25, L. 2 – p. 26, L. 22). The officer followed the man and stopped him. (Trial tr. p. 73, L. 6 – p. 74, L. 15).

Jones went back into the restaurant and discovered the green bag contained 3-4 bottles of alcohol in it. The alcohol belonged to Olde Main. (Trial tr. p 27, L. 3-14). Other officers arrived and she showed them the bag that contained the bottles of alcohol. The bag did not come from the restaurant. (Trial tr. p. 97, L. 11 – p. 99, L. 4). The man stopped outside of the restaurant was the defendant, Bernard Smith. He told officers that he had been inside Olde Main, but was not behind the bar. He was there to get a job application. (Trial tr. p. 75, L. 1 – p. 77, L. 11). He was arrested and charged with burglary in the second degree. (Trial tr. p. 80, L. 18-25).

The general manager of Olde Main testified that he knew Smith because Smith had previously worked at Olde Main.

(Trial tr. p. 61, L. 12-25). The manager said that Olde Main was not open to the public at 9:00 a.m. on that day and that Smith did not have permission to be in the building or behind the bar. (Trial tr. p. 56, L. 23 – p. 57, L. 15; p. 63, L. 2-8).

Further relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF <u>STATE V. HARRINGTON</u>, RENDERING THE DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEA TO THE HABITUAL OFFENDER ENHANCEMENT UNKNOWING, INVOLUNTARY, AND WITHOUT A FACTUAL BASIS.

Preservation of Error and Standard of Review: The

"admission by an offender to the prior convictions to support sentencing as a habitual offender is comparable to a plea of guilty to support sentencing for the crime identified in the plea." State v. Harrington, 893 N.W.2d 36, 42 (Iowa 2017).

"[O]ffenders in a habitual offender proceeding must preserve error in any deficiencies in the proceeding by filing a motion in arrest of judgment." <u>Id</u>. at 43. However, "this requirement does not apply where a defendant was never advised during the plea proceedings, as required by Rule 2.8(2)(d), that challenges

to the plea must be made in a motion in arrest of judgment and that the failure to challenge the plea by filing the motion within the time provided prior to sentencing precludes a right to assert the challenge on appeal." State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004); see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d). Counsel did not file a motion in arrest of judgment in this case. However, the court failed to adequately advise the defendant that he had a right to challenge his plea by filing a motion in arrest of judgment. The court merely told the defendant that he had the "right to file what's called a motion in arrest of judgment." (Trial tr. p. 148, L. 2-24). The court did not explain to the defendant what that motion was or the consequences of failing to file the notice as is required by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(d). Rule 2.8(2)(d) states:

The court shall inform the defendant that any challenges to a plea of guilty based on alleged defects in the plea proceedings must be raised in a motion in arrest of judgment and that failure to so raise such challenges shall preclude the right to assert them on appeal.

The court must substantially comply with this rule before a defendant will be precluded from raising an issue on appeal.

See <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 877 N.W.2d 676, 680-681 (Iowa 2016) (finding insufficient compliance with the rule when the guilty plea form did not advise the defendant that failing to file the motion cut off any right to challenge the plea); <u>State v. Hinner</u>, 471 N.W.2d 841, 845 (Iowa 1991) (stating that a knowing and voluntary waiver of a right to appeal presupposes that the defendant knows about the right and intentionally relinquishes it). Here the court did not mention the purpose of filing a motion in arrest of judgment. The court did not mention that failure to file the motion waived his right to appeal. Therefore, the court did not substantially comply with the rule, and the defendant is not precluded from raising the issue on appeal.

However, if the court finds that this advisory was sufficient, the issue should be reviewed in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel for counsels' failure to preserve the issue for appeal. <u>State v. Hrbek</u>, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983); <u>State v. Lucas</u>, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982). "When a defendant's counsel does not challenge the entry of a guilty plea to an offense for which no factual basis is shown and

a strong possibility exists that there was no factual basis," the Iowa Supreme Court has held that the court can review a challenge to the plea "notwithstanding a failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment." <u>State v. Royer</u>, 632 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 2001).

Claims of error in guilty plea proceedings are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; *see also* <u>Meron</u>, 675 N.W.2d at 540. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel concern constitutional rights, and the standard of review is therefore de novo. <u>State v. Osborn</u>, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998).

Discussion: Prior to trial, counsel for the defendant, Bernard Smith, told the court that he wished to have the habitual offender matter heard separately from the guilt phase. (Trial tr. p. 6, L. 12-24). Following the State's case, the parties made a record regarding the defendant's choice not to testify. The court seemed to conflate the defendant's decision not to testify with an admission that he was an habitual offender:

THE COURT: Okay. We're at the point where the

Defendant if he's going to offer evidence needs to make that determination. I've not pushed you on that but do you know if your client is going to testify or not?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, my client has chose [sic] not to testify in this matter.

THE COURT: Very well. I need to make a record on that with you; okay?

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: [Defense Counsel] has indicated that you elected not to testify and that certainly is your right' okay? I need to kind of explore a few things with you.

You have denied the allegations. That's a presumption that goes with you throughout the evidence until such time, if ever, that the State proves that you're guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

But one of the elements that you're giving up is this; is that there is also a second part of this criminal case and that is that your part that you are alleged to have committed these crimes before.

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. And do you want to admit that violation or deny that allegation?

THE DEFENDANT: (No audible response was given by the Defendant.)

THE COURT: It's what we call a bifurcated trial.

(At this time there is an off-the-record-discussion between [Defense Counsel] and the Defendant.)

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, what my client is confused about is if he does stipulate to the priors, he doesn't want that to go to the jury now.

So he would like the jury to return a verdict; and I think that's a very strong likelihood if they return a guilty verdict that he will stipulate.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. So you want to defer

making a decision on that? THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

(Trial tr. p. 109, L. 5 – p. 110, L. 22). The court went on to discuss Smith's decision not to testify in the guilt phase of the (Trial tr. p. 111, L. 1-25). After the case was proceedings. submitted to the jury, counsel for Smith informed the court that his "client has decided that he will withdraw his request for a bifurcated trial and will stipulate to the priors . . . should the jury return a guilty verdict" (Trial tr. p. 145, L. 13-16). The court turned to Smith and the following exchange took place: "I told you earlier about the ramifications of doing that. It's your decision and you voluntarily decided that you will stipulate to the habitual offender element of the trial? THE DEFENDANT: Yes. THE COURT: Okay. All right. Thank (Trial tr. p. 145, L. 21 – p. 146, L. 1). No further vou." discussion was held at that time about the enhancement.

After the jury returned a verdict of guilty to burglary in the second degree, defense counsel expressed concern over the adequacy of the record on Smith's stipulation to the

enhancement:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, [the prosecutor] brought to my attention a case *State v. Harrington, 983 N.W.2d at 36*. It concerns a Defendant making admissions to the habitual offender without the State having to prove it up and the issue of bringing it up in a motion in arrest of judgment or making an adequate record.

I believe we probably have an adequate record but just to be safe, it probably would be best to maybe supplement the record a little bit at this time, that the defendant did freely voluntarily stipulate to the priors of that habitual offender.

THE COURT: All right. I think we did that. But you're in agreement on that; aren't you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. I appreciate that. You understand that's voluntary on your part and you elected to go along with that?

THE COURT: Okay. I have one last thing I need to tell you about. You have the right to file what's called a motion in arrest of judgment. That motion has to be filed at least I think it's five days or three days?

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Five days, Your honor.

THE COURT: Five day before the date of sentencing. I set your sentencing on January 16th. So if you want the Court to consider that, it has to be filed at least five days before January 16th.

Do you understand that?

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Your Honor, I think it's forty-five days but no less than five days before sentencing.
THE COURT: Okay.
[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: That is correct.
THE COURT: All right. Got that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. That will conclude the hearing.

(Trial tr. p. 148, L. 4 – p. 149, L. 18).

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9) governs the procedure for trials involving prior convictions. The rule provides that the offender has the opportunity to affirm or deny that he or she is the same person previously convicted. If he or she denies being the person previously convicted, the issue of the identity is tried to a jury. If the offender admits to being the person previously convicted, the court must sentence him or her under the enhancement statute. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9). However, "[an] affirmative response by the defendant under the rule . . . does not necessarily serve as an admission to support the imposition of an enhanced penalty as a multiple offender." State v. Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d 687, 692 (Iowa 2005). "The court has a duty to conduct a further inquiry, similar to the colloquy required under rule 2.8(2), prior to sentencing to ensure that the affirmation is voluntary and intelligent." Id. The court may not accept a guilty plea without first determining

that it is made voluntarily and intelligently and has a factual basis. <u>State v. Harrington</u>, 893 N.W.2d 36, 45 (Iowa 2017).

Just like guilty pleas to substantive crimes, courts must follow the same protocol in a habitual offender proceeding. "First, the court must inform the offender of the nature of the habitual offender charge and, if admitted, that it will result in sentencing as a habitual offender for having 'twice before been convicted of a felony." Id. (quoting Iowa Code § 902.8 (2017)). The court is also required to inform the offender that the prior convictions are only valid if he or she was represented by counsel or that counsel was knowing and voluntarily waived. In addition, the court must establish that a factual basis Id. exists for the admission to the prior convictions. Id. at 45-46. The court must inform the offender of the maximum punishment under the enhancement and the mandatory minimum punishment. Id. at 46. The court must inform the offender of all of the trial rights enumerated in Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b)(4). Id. The court must also tell the offender that by admitting to the prior convictions no trial

will take place. The court must tell the offender that "the state is not required to prove the prior convictions were entered with counsel if the offender does not first raise the claim." <u>Id</u>. The district must also inform the offender that any challenges to the admission must be raised in a motion in arrest of judgment and failure to do so will preclude the right to assert those challenges on appeal. <u>Id</u>.

During the plea colloquy in this case, the court failed to abide by almost all of these requirements. The court merely asked Smith if he voluntarily admitted to the priors. No specific priors were identified and there was no discussion about whether Smith was represented by counsel for the priors. The court failed to advise Smith of the maximum and minimum penalties are for the habitual offender enhancement. The maximum possible sentence is not mentioned in the record until the sentencing hearing where the prosecutor corrected the PSI recommendation for a 10 year sentence by informing the court that the habitual offender statute carries a 15 year sentence. (Sentencing tr. p. 3, L. 18-25). The minimum

sentence of 3 years is never mentioned in the record during the trial or during the sentencing hearing. The PSI contains no mention of the habitual offender sentencing enhancement and recommends a 10 year prison sentence. (PSI) (Conf. App. pp. 8-24). The sentencing order contains no mention of the minimum sentence. It is entirely possible the defendant did not know about the minimum sentence until he arrived at the prison.

Although the trial had just concluded on the burglary charge and the parties briefly discussed the waiver of a "bifurcated trial," the court did not go through the trial rights that the defendant was giving up by admitting to the previous felonies. The court did not explain that the state would not have to prove that the prior conviction were with counsel unless he raised that issue. The court told Smith that he could file a motion in arrest of judgment but did not explain the purpose of such motion or that the failure to file the motion would preclude his ability to raise the issue on appeal.

Finally, the court failed to establish a factual basis.

During the colloquy, there was no mention of the specific convictions that the defendant was admitting to. The trial information listed 8 convictions alleged to have previously been committed by the defendant. (Trial Information; Minutes of Testimony) (App. pp. 4-6) (Conf. App. pp. 4-6). There is also no indication that the crimes were consecutively committed as there are no dates of the commission of each offense. Indeed there are two conviction on May 31, 1991, and two convictions on January 17, 2006. The State would not have been able to use multiple convictions on the same day as it would have been impossible for one to have been committed subsequent to the sentencing of the other one. State v. Conley, 222 N.W.2d 501, 503 (Iowa 1974) (holding that the first conviction and imposition of sentence must precede the second offense).

There was no identifying information in the plea colloquy or in the minutes of testimony that would establish whether the defendant was the same person who was previously convicted. "Under Iowa law, the identity of names between the defendant and a defendant named in a judgment of conviction, by itself, is

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