IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 18-0184

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

BERNARD ANTHONY SMITH,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR STORY COUNTY
THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY J. FINN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov

JESSICA REYNOLDS
Story County Attorney

TIMOTHY C. MEALS & SHAWNA JOHNSON
Assistant County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Smith Failed to Preserve Error by Not Filing a Motion in Arrest, and He Fails to Prove Ineffective Assistance Related to His Habitual-Offender Stipulation.**

Preservation of Error

Smith did not preserve error because he did not file a motion in arrest of judgment. “[O]ffenders in a habitual offender proceeding must preserve error in any deficiencies in the proceeding by filing a motion in arrest of judgment.” *State v. Harrington*, 893 N.W.2d 36, 43 (Iowa 2017). *Harrington* applied the rule prospectively, so it applies to Smith whose trial occurred more than seven months after *Harrington* was decided. *See* Trial Tr. p. 1, lines 10–13 (indicating Smith’s trial commenced on November 28, 2017).

Smith seeks exception from error preservation, arguing the district court “failed to adequately advise” him of the duty to file a motion in arrest. Def. Br. at 14. The district court told Smith he had “the right to file what’s called a motion in arrest of judgment” and advised him of the timeframe to file such a motion. Trial Tr. p. 148, line 22 – p. 149, line 14. When the court asked, “Got that?” Smith replied “yes.” Trial Tr. p. 149, lines 15–16. Smith, however, complains this warning “did not mention the purpose of filing a

motion in arrest” and “did not mention that failure to file the motion waived his right to appeal.” Def. Br. at 15.

By seeking this exception, Smith expands on a concept that this Court has never extended to motions in arrest outside of the guilty-plea context. He cites *State v. Meron*, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004), cited in Def. Br. at 14, in which the Court excused the defendant’s failure to file a motion in arrest to challenge her guilty plea because she was not “informed by the district court of the purpose of the motion or the consequences of failing to file the motion.” See Def. Br. at 14. The *Meron* rule reflects Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(3)(a), which states the failure to challenge a “guilty plea proceeding” in a motion in arrest precludes an appellate challenge. *Harrington* could have—but did not—extend the *Meron* rule to habitual offender proceedings. Instead, *Harrington* and subsequent cases have only excused the failure to file a motion in arrest for defendants whose colloquies occurred before *Harrington*. See *Harrington*, 893 N.W.2d at 43 (excusing the defendant’s failure to preserve error with a motion in arrest because “we apply this rule of law prospectively”); *State v. Brewster*, 907 N.W.2d 489, 493 n.3 (Iowa 2018) (same); *State v. Steiger*, 903 N.W.2d 169, 170 (Iowa

2017) (same); *State v. Newton*, No. 16-1525, 2018 WL 739251, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2018) (same). Because *Harrington* already announced the exception to filing a motion in arrest for habitual offender proceedings, nothing compels extending the *Meron* exception outside the context of guilty-plea cases.

Smith still has the opportunity to challenge his habitual offender proceedings. He makes the alternative argument that counsel was ineffective for not challenging the adequacy of the habitual-offender colloquy. Def. Br. at 15. The ineffective assistance framework permits people like Smith to challenge the voluntariness of their habitual-offender stipulations without granting the windfall of reversal for any technical defect in their colloquy.

Without conceding Smith's failure to preserve error, the State will address the merits of his complaints as claims of ineffective assistance. See *State v. Begey*, 672 N.W.2d 747, 749 (Iowa 2003) (recognizing that claims of ineffective assistance are an exception to the normal error preservation rules).

Standard of Review

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006).

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove both that counsel’s performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted. *Id.* at 687.

Under the first prong, the defendant must show counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* at 687–88. The reviewing court must be highly deferential to counsel’s performance, avoid judging in hindsight, and “indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” *Id.* at 689. To prove the second prong, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.*

Defendants can raise claims of ineffective assistance on direct appeal if they have “reasonable grounds to believe that the record is adequate to address the claim on direct appeal.” Iowa Code § 814.7(2) (2017). “[I]f a defendant wishes to have an ineffective-assistance claim resolved on direct appeal, the defendant will be required to establish an adequate record to allow the appellate court to address the issue.” *State v. Johnson*, 784 N.W.2d 192, 198 (Iowa 2010). “If, however, the court determines the claim cannot be addressed on appeal, the court must preserve it for a postconviction-relief proceeding, regardless of the court’s view of the potential viability of the claim.” *Id.*

Discussion

Smith fails to prove ineffective assistance concerning the adequacy of his habitual-offender colloquy. First, the record as a whole—including Smith’s admissions—provide a factual basis that he has at least two previous felony convictions. Second, the current record does not establish that a more complete colloquy would have persuaded him to insist on a trial for his prior convictions. Accordingly, this Court should affirm his conviction and sentence.

A. A factual basis supports Smith’s habitual offender sentence.

Smith’s ineffective assistance claim requires him to prove the record lacked a factual basis. Before accepting a stipulation in a habitual offender proceeding, “the court must . . . make sure a factual basis exists to support the admission to the prior convictions.” *State v. Harrington*, 893 N.W.2d 36, 45–46 (Iowa 2017); *see also State v. Keene*, 630 N.W.2d 579, 581 (Iowa 2001) (applying the same rule for guilty pleas); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b). “On a claim that a plea bargain is invalid because of a lack of accuracy on the factual-basis issue, the entire record before the district court may be examined.” *State v. Finney*, 834 N.W.2d 46, 62 (Iowa 2013). “The trial court may ascertain that a factual basis for a guilty plea exists by (1) inquiry of the defendant; (2) inquiry of the prosecutor; (3) examination of the presentence report; or (4) reference to the minutes of testimony.” *State v. Johnson*, 234 N.W.2d 878, 879 (Iowa 1974).

The minutes of testimony support a factual basis that Smith has at least two prior felony convictions. The trial information listed eight prior felonies: a 1990 second-degree burglary, a 1991 second-degree burglary, a 1991 second-degree theft, a 1999 third-offense OWI, a 2006 second-degree burglary, a 2006 third-degree burglary, a

2006 first-degree theft, and a 2014 second-degree theft. Trial Information (9/27/2017); App. 4–5. The minutes listed clerks for Story, Scott, and Polk Counties who would introduce records of those convictions. Minutes; Conf. App. 5. Additional minutes listed a probation officer who would testify that Smith was the same person convicted in three prior Story County cases. Add'l Minutes (10/3/2017); Conf. App. 7. These minutes more than suffice to establish that Smith has at least two prior felony convictions.

The presentence investigation report also supports a factual basis for Smith's prior convictions. The report lists prison terms and felony convictions from the State of Texas as well Davenport, Des Moines, Ames, and Huxley. PSI at 3–7; Conf. App. 10–14. When asked about the PSI at sentencing, Smith offered no additions or corrections. Sent. Tr. p. 4, lines 2–8. Therefore, the PSI serves as an undisputed record of Smith's prior felonies.

Finally, Smith's stipulations equate to an admission to at least two prior felony convictions. The court told Smith he could either admit or deny the allegation of prior convictions. Trial Tr. p. 109, line 25 – p. 110, line 25. Later, Smith personally affirmed his intention to withdraw the request for a trial and agreed to the stipulation

supporting the habitual offender enhancement. Trial Tr. p. 145, lines 11–25. And after the jury returned a guilty verdict for burglary, Smith again affirmed that he freely and voluntarily stipulated to the prior convictions. Trial Tr. p. 148, lines 4–21. These stipulations support a factual basis on the simple question of whether Smith had prior felony convictions, so there is no reason to question the adequacy of the record as a whole.

A factual basis supports the habitual offender sentence. The minutes of testimony, the PSI, and Smith’s personal stipulations indicate he has at least two prior felony convictions. Although Smith now raises several questions that he could have explored by contesting the evidence at trial (Def. Br. at 23–26), his argument overlooks that the factual-basis inquiry does not require the same proof as if he had insisted on trial. *See Keene*, 630 N.W.2d at 581 (quotation omitted) (recognizing that a court accepting a guilty plea “must only be satisfied that the facts support the crime, ‘not necessarily that the defendant is guilty’”). The record supports the habitual offender enhancement, so this Court should reject Smith’s factual-basis challenge.

B. The record does not prove a reasonable likelihood that Smith would have insisted on trial.

At most, the current record only proves half of Smith's ineffective assistance claim. He identifies several shortcomings in the district court's habitual-offender colloquy. Def. Br. at 20–23.

However, he fails to prove any reasonable likelihood that a more complete colloquy would have caused him to insist on a trial to establish his prior convictions. *Cf. State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 136 (Iowa 2006) (recognizing that to establish the prejudice prong of ineffective assistance in guilty-plea proceedings “the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial”).

Smith does not explain how he was prejudiced. The jury had already found him guilty of burglary. The stipulation only concerned the simple question of whether he had been convicted of at least two prior felonies. The State was prepared to offer evidence of his eight prior felony convictions in Iowa. *See Minutes, Add'l Minutes* (10/3/2017); Conf. App. 5, 7 (summarizing evidence from three county clerks and Smith's probation officer). Faced with these

circumstances, Smith had nothing to gain by insisting on a trial to prove his prior convictions.

The current record does not establish the prejudice prong of Smith's ineffective assistance claim. Even though the court did not follow the *Harrington* procedure, nothing proves that a more complete colloquy would have led Smith to insist on trial. Consequently, this Court should affirm his sentence and, at most, preserve his claim for further development in a postconviction relief action.

II. Smith Is Prematurely Challenging the Reasonable-Ability-to-Pay Ruling Entered After He Filed His Notice of Appeal.

Preservation of Error

“[E]rrors in sentencing may be challenged on direct appeal even in the absence of an objection in the district court.” *State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

“We review restitution orders for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010). “A defendant who seeks to upset a restitution order, however, has the burden to demonstrate either the failure of the court to exercise discretion or an

abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Van Hoff*, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987).

Discussion

Smith fails to demonstrate error related to his reasonable ability to repay his court-appointed attorney fees. First, the claim is not ripe for review on direct appeal because the district court did not rule on his reasonable ability to pay before he filed his notice of appeal. Second, if Smith disagrees with the district court’s post-appeal restitution plan of payment, then he should challenge it with a restitution hearing in the district court. This Court should not permit him to shortcut the established procedure.

Smith’s ability-to-pay challenge is not ripe under the current appellate record. “[U]nlike direct causal-connection or amount-of-restitution challenges, ‘ability-to-pay challenges to restitution are premature until the defendant has exhausted the modification remedy afforded by Iowa Code section 910.7.’” *State v. Plettenberg*, No. 17-1312, 2018 WL 2084814, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 2, 2018) (quoting *State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 626 (Iowa 2017)). In *Plettenberg*, the Court found the reasonable-ability-to-pay challenge was not ripe for review “[b]ecause no final plan of payment has been

entered.” *Id.* Smith’s sentencing judgment did not purport to determine his reasonable ability to pay attorney fees. *See* Judgment (1/16/2018); App. 10–12. And when Smith filed his notice of appeal, the court had not yet approved any restitution plan of payment. Consequently, the current appellate record does not contain a reasonable-ability-to-pay order for this Court to review. *See State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) (“[I]t does not appear in the present case that the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 was complete at the time the notice of appeal was filed. Until this is done, the court is not required to give consideration to the defendant’s ability to pay.”).

Smith should follow the established procedure to challenge the restitution plan of payment filed after his appeal. About two months after he appealed, the district court approved a restitution plan setting the amount of restitution and ordering him to pay 20% of all credits to his inmate account. Restitution Plan (3/20/2018); App. 27.¹ That amount of restitution presumably includes the \$577.50 of

¹ Although this post-appeal ruling is not part of the record on appeal, the State proposes that the Court may reach outside the record when considering issues of ripeness. *Cf. In re L.H.*, 480 N.W.2d 43, 45 (Iowa 1992) (“Matters that are technically outside the record may be submitted in order to establish or counter a claim of

indigent defense fees his attorney was paid. Docket Report (1/26/2018) at 11; App. 25. Smith can challenge this amount and repayment rate at any time during his period of incarceration or parole. Iowa Code § 910.7; *see also State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999) (“Iowa Code section 910.7 permits an offender who is dissatisfied with the amount of restitution required by the plan to petition the district court for a modification. Until that remedy has been exhausted we have no basis for reviewing the issue that defendant raises.”).

Smith should address his restitution challenge to the district court. When he appealed, the district court had not yet determined the amount of attorney fees or his reasonable ability to repay that amount. Since filing his appeal, the district court has entered a restitution plan of payment, but Smith has not exhausted his duty to challenge that plan with a 910.7 hearing. Therefore, this Court should decline to review the restitution plan on direct appeal.

mootness. We consider matters that have transpired during the appeal for this limited purpose.”).

III. Smith’s Suspended Fine for His Habitual Offender Conviction Should Be Vacated.

Preservation of Error

“Illegal sentences may be challenged at any time, notwithstanding that the illegality was not raised in the trial court or on appeal.” *State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010)

Standard of Review

Review of the legality of a sentence is for errors at law. *See State v. Davis*, 544 N.W.2d 453, 455 (Iowa 1996).

Discussion

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